IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 87,342

the LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF FLORIDA; the LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF FLORIDA EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE; and ROBERT WILSON,

Petitioners

FILED SIDJ. WHITE MAY 28 1996 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____ Ohler Dagerty Black

V,

JIM SMITH, in his official capacity as Secretary of State; and DOROTHY JOYCE, in her official capacity as Director of the Division of Elections,

Respondents

_____/

On Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

Daniel F. Walker D. Fleming Walker, P.A. 221 E. Seventh Ave. Tallahassee, FL 32303

(904)-224-5545

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Libertarian Party of Florida, the Libertarian Party of Florida Executive Committee, and Richard Vajs filed a complaint in the fall of 1993, challenging the Federal and state constitutionality of the fee-distribution features of s. 99.103, Fla. Stat. (1993), insofar as the state executive committees of minor parties receive no percentage of the filing fees paid by their respective candidates for state and federal office, but the state executive committees of "major" parties are statutorily entitled to a percentage of the filing fees paid by their respective candidates for state and federal office. [R 1-9]

When the Libertarian Party did not obtain sufficient valid petition signatures to place Vajs on the general election ballot, a second amended complaint was filed to substitute for Richard Vajs as plaintiff Robert Wilson, a Libertarian candidate for District 4 in the State House of Representatives and for whom sufficient petition signatures were obtained for general election ballot placement. [R41-49]

The parties stipulated to the facts listed in the Statement of the Facts below, and the circuit court heard arguments in chambers on November 29, 1994, on the parties' respective motions for judgment on the merits. The circuit court rendered its opinion on January 11, 1995, granting the respondents' motion. [R 148-162] The petitioners filed Notice of Appeal on Feb. 10, 1995, oral arguments were held on October 25, 1995 before the First District Court of Appeal, and on January 4, 1996, the district court of appeal issued an opinion affirming the circuit court by a 2-1 margin.

1

The petitioners filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction in a timely fashion, followed by submittal to the Supreme Court of the petitioners' and respondents' briefs on jurisdiction. This court accepted jurisdiction on May 3, 1996.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Libertarian Party of Florida is a minor party under s. 99.021(15), Fla. Stat. (1995); at least three-fourths of its state executive committee was elected at each annual convention in 1992, 1993, and 1994. [R 149]

Robert Wilson was the Libertarian Party of Florida nominee in 1994 for District 4 of the Florida House of Representatives; he paid a qualifying fee of \$1,278.42 to the Department of State and appeared on the November 8, 1994 general election ballot. [R 149]

As part of the joint stipulation referred to earlier, the parties filed copies of documents that had been submitted to the Secretary of State by candidate Robert Wilson. Some of those documents are from Wilson's campaign treasurer report. [R 95-97] The summary shows that for the period ending July 29, 1994, Wilson's campaign account had \$1,550.00 in contributions and \$1,278.42 in expenditures. [R 95] Of the \$1,550.00 in contributions, \$1,200.00 was contributed by the Libertarian Party of Santa Rosa County. [R 96] The \$1,278.42 represents Wilson's filing fee. [R 97]

2

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is the position of the petitioners that once a party and its candidate are similarly situated vis a vis a ballot-qualified candidate (of another party) seeking the same office, then any governmental interest in preventing factionalism is obviated. Once the government's "compelling interest" of preventing factionalism falls in this case, the particular inherent attribute -- the disparate funding of parties based upon size of the parties with which ballot-qualified candidates are associated -- of the filing fee scheme set forth in s. 99.103, Fla. Stat. (1995) fails constitutional scrutiny.

A "filing fee" is one component of a "qualifying fee." The "qualifying fee" consists of the filing fee, the party assessment, and the election assessment. Only the "filing fee" component is at issue in this case. Party assessments and election assessments are applied equally against all partisan party candidates; however, filing fees are distributed differently based upon the party with which a candidate is affiliated. "Major" parties with 5% or greater statewide voter registration are given approximately 53% of the filing fees paid by their state- and federal-office candidates. Minor parties (with less than 5% statewide voter registration) receive zero per cent of the filing fees paid by their ballot-qualified candidates for state and federal office.

Laws which prevent factionalism are those which are legitimately employed to ascertain public support to justify ballot placement *or* to prevent "party-jumping" so as to prevent voter confusion. Once a requisite number of petition signatures have been obtained, and submitted by a certain deadline, and the candidate for whom ballot placement is sought has not "party-jumped" soon before qualifying, then the governmental interest in legitimately desiring to prevent factionalism has been satisfied.

How a candidate's filing fee is distributed has <u>nothing</u> to do with ascertaining public support for that candidate's ballot placement. How the filing fee of a candidate (who has earned ballot placement) is distributed has <u>nothing</u> to do with preventing factionalism within a different political party.

Disparate treatment of candidate filing fees -- using said fees to fund the parties of some ballot-qualified candidates, but denying that same funding mechanism to ballot-qualified candidates of other parties -- is nothing less than a punitive measure applied against minor parties and their candidates *who have already shown the necessary "modicum of public support" to merit being placed on the ballot and thus satisfied governmental standards to overcome concerns of factionalism and a multiplicity of parties.* Such a punitive measure, a legally institutionalized preference for the major parties, diminishes rights of political association and participation under the U.S. and Florida constitutions.

To allow the government to justify disparate fee-distributions of filing fees based upon whether a ballot-qualified candidate is a nominee of a minor party or a major party, on grounds of "preventing factionalism," is no different, in principle, than invoking "preventing factionalism" to impose different contribution limits on minor parties and their candidates or mandating that a vote for a minor party candidate shall equal one-half of a vote for a major-party candidate. Would such laws prevent factionalism? Sure. Would such laws be constitutionally legitimate based upon an interest of preventing factionalism at the cost of penalizing the exercise of the right of political association by developing a new party?

That is the principle at issue in this case. *Not* whether there exists a governmental interest in preventing factionalism, but whether that interest can be legitimately invoked *even when* a minor party and its candidate have earned ballot placement and are similarly situated with major-party nominees seeking the same office.

The petitioners assert that the governmental interest in preventing factionalism is an illegitimate interest to justify the filing-fee distribution scheme; furthermore, the governmental interests in (1) providing support to parties and (2) offsetting election administration costs, though capable of being legitimately relevant in a constitutional sense, are not met in a constitutional manner by the challenged statutory provision.

ARGUMENT

lssue 1

THE 1st DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL MISAPPLIED PRECEDENT BY IMPUTING AN IRRELEVANT GOVERNMENTAL INTEREST AS JUSTIFICATION FOR THE CHALLENGED STATUTE AND BY FAILING TO FULLY RECOGNIZE THE BURDENS UPON THE PETITIONERS' RIGHTS OF POLITICAL ASSOCIATION. A. The 1st District Court of Appeal majority opinion improperly rests upon a governmental interest used to justify ballot-access requirements, and supported only by precedent concerning ballot-access requirements, while the case at hand does <u>not</u> concern a ballot-access requirement.

The district court majority opinion relies heavily upon precedential cases concerning statutes concerning requirements for access to the ballot. Burdick v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428, 112 S.Ct. 2059 (1992), was about a prohibition of write-in candidacies (restricting ballot access) in a state in which more than two parties generally gained ballot access. Storer v. Brown, 415 U.S. 724, 94 S.Ct. 1274 (1974) was concerned with an array of ballot-access requirements: party-disaffiliation standards for independent candidates, the time frame during which petition signatures could be collected, and eligibility standards regarding who could sign a petition. McLaughlin v. North Carolina Board of Elections, 65 F.3d 1215 (4th Cir. 1995) was concerned with the necessity to petition (and thus obtain ballot-access) in light of a party's voter support demonstrated at a previous election. <u>Illinois Bd. of</u> Elections v. Socialist Workers Party, 440 U.S. 173, 99 S.Ct. 983 (1979) dealt with the issue of numerical petition standards for ballot-access for non-statewide-office candidates. Anderson v. Celebrezze, 460 U.S. 780, 103 S.Ct. 1564 (1983) was about ballot-access standards required of independent candidates. Likewise, the recent case of Libertarian Party of Florida v. Smith, 660 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), rev. denied 669 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1996) was concerned with ballot-access petitioning standards for minor party ballot placement. <u>Fulani v. Smith</u>, 640 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), rev. denied 651 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1995) was a ballot-access case

6

regarding the deadline to file an oath to run as a write-in candidate.

None of the statutes challenged in the cases cited above were statutes which were applied because, contemporaneously or after, a minor party candidate *satisfied* ballot-access standards to earn ballot placement. The statutes challenged in the cases cited above dealt with the degree of severity of standards directly relating to gauging the sufficiency of public support to justify ballot placement, or to prevent voter confusion and party factionalism by restricting candidates from shifting party allegiance for a convenient "second bite at the apple" for ballot placement.

How a candidate's filing fee is distributed has *nothing* to do with gauging public interest to justify placing said candidate on the ballot; likewise, how a specific candidate's filing fee is distributed has *nothing* to do with preventing said candidate from jumping from one party to another, or preventing factionalism within said candidate's party.

Furthermore, the lower court's fleeting reference to <u>Fulani v. Krivanek</u>, 973 F.2d 1539 (11th Cir. 1992) curiously omits any reference to the language of that decision most pertinent to this case: "*A state might permissibly charge a* <u>nondiscriminatory fee</u> [emphasis added] that advances the regulatory interest of reimbursing the state for its election expenses, particularly if it offers alternative avenues of ballot access, but it cannot use the fee to decide who deserves to be on the ballot." <u>Fulani</u> at 1547. One position that <u>Fulani</u> does not stand for is the proposition that a filing fee with a discriminatory inherent attribute is a legitimate ballot access measure supported by a compelling government interest.

The discriminatory feature of the inherent attribute of the filing fee provision, whereby minor parties receive zero percent of the filing fees paid by their state and federal candidates, while "major" parties receive more than 50% of the filing fees paid by their state- and federal-office candidates, cannot be legitimately justified as a factionalism-prevention method drawn from ballot-access jurisprudence. The district court mistakenly invoked a governmental interest which, though compelling, is not legitimately relevant to this case. This court should remove the pillar of "antifactionalism" upon which the district court majority opinion rests so heavily. The district court was satisfied only with the reasonable relation of the statute to the interest asserted. Unfortunately, the district court simply presupposed the legitimacy of that relationship by ignoring the issues raised in the cases cited.

B. The district court of appeal failed to take account of the burdens placed upon the political associative rights of the Libertarian Party of Florida and the condition imposed on the exercise of associative rights by those who affiliate themselves as nominees of the Libertarian Party.

Citizens have a "constitutional right . . . to create and develop new political parties." Norman v. Reed, 502 U.S. 279, 288, 112 S.Ct. 698, 705 (1992). It is selfevident that the development of the Libertarian Party of Florida is harmed when it is denied the same percentage of filing fees paid by its candidates for state and federal office as the major parties receive from the filing fees paid by their respective candidates for state and federal office due to the effect of s. 99.103(1), Fla. Stat. (1995). The monies received by the major parties are available to them for

8

unrestricted legal use -- supporting candidates, public relations, voter outreach, and other measures. The challenged statute provides monetary lifeblood to *some* political parties from the filing fees paid by *their* ballot-qualified candidates, but denies *any* of that same transfusion to minor parties from the filing fees paid by their similarly situated, ballot-qualified nominees for those same state and federal offices.

The district court also failed to acknowledge or address the issue of electionadministration costs raised by operation of the fee-distribution statute. The fee distribution scheme *penalizes* minor party nominees for state and federal office by forcing them to offset more election-administration costs than do their similarly situated major-party opponents. It is self-evident that when the government retains 100 per cent of the filing fee paid by a minor party nominee for the State House, and the government retains less than 50 per cent paid by a major party nominee for the State House, and the filing fees were the same, then the minor party uominee (e.g., Robert Wilson) whose fee was totally retained by the government is offsetting a far greater percentage and absolute amount of election-related costs than is his majorparty opponent for that public office. The fee is *not* nondiscriminatory -- anymore than was the petition verification fee scheme challenged in <u>Fulani v. Krivanek</u> -- and should be declared unconstitutional.

Florida Statute section 99.103(1) diminishes the right of the Libertarian Party of Florida by depriving it of funding from a measure statutorily geared to benefit larger parties. The challenged statute also imposes an undue condition on the exercise of political association rights by those who are affiliated with minor parties and wish to run for state and federal office; such minor party candidates must offset more than twice as many election-administration costs as do their major-party competitors.

This fee-distribution statute is

"[a] burden that falls unequally on new or small parties ... [which] impinges, by its very nature, on associational choices protected by the First Amendment. It discriminates against those candidates and -- of particular importance -against those voters whose political preferences lie outside the existing political parties. [citation omitted] <u>By limiting</u> the opportunities of independent-minded voters to associate in the electoral arena to enhance their effectiveness as a group, such restrictions threaten to reduce diversity and competition in the marketplace of ideas. [emphasis supplied]

<u>Anderson v. Celebrezze</u>, 460 U.S. 780, 793-794, 103 S.Ct. 1564, 75 L.Ed.2d 547 (1983).

The fee-distribution scheme of s. 99.103(1), Fla. Stat. (1995) certainly

threatens diversity and competition in the marketplace of ideas, by aiding the

financial and competitive crib death of small parties which have satisfied ballot-access

requirements to place candidates on the ballot.

C. Precedents regarding disparate treatment of political parties concerning nonballot-access election laws supports the petitioners' challenge for equal treatment of filing-fee distributions.

Consider the case of <u>Socialist Workers Party v. Rockefeller</u>, 314 F.Supp. 984 (S.D.N.Y. 1970), *judgment aff'd*, 400 U.S. 806 (1970), which did not concern ballot access requirements but *did* concern disparate treatment of political parties. At issue were statutory provisions that voter registration lists were to be provided free of charge to county chairmen of parties which received at least 50,000 votes in the previous gubernatorial election; other parties, even if ballot-qualified but not having satisfied the 50,000 vote standard, did not qualify for the receipt of free registration lists.

The district court held that "[t]*he state has shown no compelling interests nor even a justifiable purpose for granting what, in effect, is a significant subsidy only to those parties which have the least need therefore.*" <u>Id.</u>, 314 F.Supp. at 995. Also, "constitutional strictures merely require that the State treat all groups similarly situated alike. The State is not required to provide such lists free of charge, but when it does so it may not provide them only for the large political parties and deny them to those parties which can least afford to purchase them." <u>Id.</u>, 314 F.Supp. at 996.

The issue decided by the Federal district court in New York (and affirmed by the U.S. Supreme Court) is analagous to the fee-distribution issue. The State of Florida is not required to craft a statutory scheme to provide funding for political parties; however, it is constitutionally repugnant to craft a scheme which funds large political parties (from the filing fees of their candidates) while denying to minor parties the same benefit from filing fees paid by their respective ballot-qualified candidates.

The Court of Appeals of New York in <u>Mandole v. Barnes</u>, 229 N.E.2d 20 (1967) ruled that a county, *"having made its buildings available for public* gatherings," could not discriminate as to which parties could use the buildings.

of county courthouses. The tiny National Renaissance Party was denied a permit due least 50,000 votes at the previous gubernatorial election could receive permits for use The county board implemented a rule by which only parties which received at to its failure to meet the electoral-support standard.

The court held that while the county "was not obliged to make its buildings available for public gatherings hut, when it does so," the federal and New York constitutions "require that it be done in a 'reasonable and nondiscriminatory constitutional scrutiny. The size of the party did not affect its right to equal manner.' [citation omitted]'' <u>Mandole</u> at 22. The rule did not withstand treatment

violative of the fundamental right of political association recognized through the First election laws which impact parties in ways unrelated to ballot-access standards. Just Providing free voter registration lists and free locations for gatherings only to as the Court of Appeals of New York ruled with regard to discriminatory treatment parameters (for some but not all parties) were unconstitutional, the petitioners urge this court to find the fee-distribution provisions of s. 99.103(1), Fla. Stat. (1995) multiplicity of parties," but that generic "compelling interest" is no shield of all affirmed a district court's determination that voter-registration list distribution some parties but not others certainly would help to "prevent factionalism and a of minor party access to county courthouses, just as the U.S. Supreme Court

and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.

D. The two legitimate government interests to justify a division of distribution of filing fee funds are not legitimately attained by the operation of the challenged statute.

The petitioners recognize two legitimate, if not compelling, governmental interests which are relevant to justifying a division of filing fees between the government and political parties. There is a governmental interest in reimbursing the government for election costs (see <u>Fulani v. Krivanek</u> at 1547), and there is a perceived governmental interest in "*fosterfing] party growth and activity*," per <u>Wetherington v. Adams</u>, 309 F.Supp. 318, 321 (N.D. Fla. 1970).

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