#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SIDJ. WHITE

The LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF FLORIDA; the LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF FLORIDA EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE; and ROBERT WILSON, CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Work

Petitioners,

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

**CASE NO. 87,342** 

JIM SMITH, in his official capacity as Secretary of State; DOROTHY JOYCE in her official capacity as Director of the Division of Elections,

Respondents.	
•	Review from the District Court of Appea

#### **ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLIE MCCOY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 333646
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL--PL 01
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-9935

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents<sup>1</sup> accept Petitioners' statement.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The State accepts the Party's statement.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

#### Issue I: Section 99.103 Under The U.S. Constitution

Section 99.103(1), Florida Statutes, provides that a portion of filing fees, after collection, must be rebated to the executive committees of major--but not minor--political parties. As the Party strongly urges, §99.103 is not a ballot *access* statute. Rather, the statute is a post-ballot measure reasonably designed to discourage splinter parties by encouraging growth of non-factional parties. It does through very modest financial support (partial rebate of filing fees) of major parties only.

Nothing in the decisions announced by any court limits the State to pre-ballot measures. Moreover, numerous federal and state decisions have held that discouraging factionalism is a rational basis for ballot access statutes, which raise far more serious First Amendment concerns. If discouraging factionalism is sufficient to sustain a law affecting a candidate's ability even to get on the ballot, then it must also be sufficient to sustain a far more peripheral law as to rebate of filing fees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Respondents will be referred to as the "State." Unless distinguished for specific purposes, Petitioners will be referred to as the "Libertarian Party" or the "Party."

Section 99.103 directs how of public money, originally collected as filing fees, is to be appropriated. Consequently, it has minimal, if any, First Amendment implications. Under the U.S. Supreme Court's decisions in <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Burdick</u>, *infra*, scrutiny of the statute is very much relaxed. In essence, the test becomes whether there is a rational basis for rebating fees to major party candidates only.

Applying a rational basis test, §99.103 can reasonably be said to strengthen major parties through modest financial support of their executive committees, and thereby discourage factionalism. Since minor party candidates can avoid a filing fee simply by executing a hardship affidavit, any First Amendment implications are minimal and are overcome. Section 99.103 is sound under the U.S. Constitution.

#### Issue II: Section 99.103 Under The Florida Constitution

Political parties and candidates have rights of political association and participation under both the U.S. and Florida Constitutions. The Party, however, has not shown its Florida rights are more extensive than its federal rights. Since it passes muster under the U.S. Constitution, §99.103 also passes muster under the Florida Constitution.

#### Issue III: Severance Is Not Available

While nominally attacking all of §99.103(1), the Party asks that only one of the statute's clauses be declared unconstitutional; so that minor parties, as well as major parties, may receive filing fee rebates. The Party has not demonstrated that deleting the challenged clause would accomplish the Legislature's purpose, and has not demonstrated that the

Legislature would have passed §99.103(1) with the challenged clause deleted. This court cannot make such a decision for the Legislature.

If the differing treatment of major and minor parties under subsection (1) of §99.103 is unconstitutional, all of §99.103 must be invalidated. Doing so leaves the Legislature with the opportunity to enact a new statute providing rebates to all parties; or, by doing nothing, providing rebates to *no* parties. Under this Court's recent decision in <u>Kuhnlein</u>, the Legislature is entitled to this opportunity.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE I**

# SECTION 99.103, FLORIDA STATUTES, IS A PROPER EXERCISE OF THE LEGISLATURE'S APPROPRIATIONS POWER THAT DOES NOT VIOLATE THE FIRST AMENDMENT

#### A. Introduction

The Party's argument in part A of Issue I is totally beside the point. Weighing mightily against the First District's rationale, the Party fails to argue against the holding. Instead, the Party derides the decision below, complaining that the court relied heavily on cases involving ballot access. The State notes only that the First District clearly and correctly declared:

the challenged statute is not a ballot access provision that ordinarily implicates substantial voting, associational and expressive rights ... [r]ather, §99.103 is merely an appropriation of some portion of the filing fees that both sides concede are lawfully collected from candidates for office.

Libertarian Party of Florida v. Smith, 665 So.2d 1119, 1121 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

Otherwise, only one of the Party's observations merits response. The Party quotes the Fulani decision, *infra*, for the undisputed point that a state cannot use a fee to decide who can be on the ballot. (IB, p. 7) Throughout this litigation, both sides and the courts have agreed that §99.103 does not involve really involve ballot access.<sup>2</sup> The conditions for appearing on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Party's motion for summary judgment declared: "The election law being challenged is not a ballot-access law; that is a significant factor in this case." (R 65)

a ballot must be met before a candidate may obtain a refund. A major party candidate obtains a fee rebate by virtue of being nominated. Under §99.061(1), a minor party candidate who fails to get sufficient signatures is refunded the entire qualifying fee, which includes the filing fee.<sup>3</sup>

From the outset, the Party admits §99.103 is a *post*-ballot measure, but fails to grasp that it is also an appropriations law reasonably designed to discourage factionalism. Nothing in the decisions of any court limits the State to pre-ballot measures. The Party's disagreement with the First District's rationale is of no moment.

The remainder of the State's answer to the first issue will address the standard of review and the statute's propriety under the U.S. Constitution. The State's answer in Issue II will address the statute's propriety under the Florida Constitution, subsuming Petitioners' second and third issues. In Issue III, the State will address whether severance is proper if the challenged clause in §99.103(1) is held unconstitutional.

#### B. Standard Of Review

Section 99.103, Florida Statutes, does not impose a filing fee or affect access to the ballot. Before the trial court, the Party attached significance to the fact that the statute does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Under §99.092, a qualifying fee has three components: a filing fee, an election assessment, and a party assessment when applicable. The filing fee component represents 4.5% of the salary of the office sought. Initially, the state retains one-third of the filing fee paid by any candidate, and transfers that amount to the Election Campaign Trust Fund. §99.092(1). The remainder is distributed pursuant to §99.103.

not regulate ballot access. Before this court, the Party's argument hinges on the same fact. (IB, p. 6-8)

Section 99.103 is a statutorily-codified exercise of the Legislature's appropriations power. In essence, the statute directs that State revenue--already collected through filing fees--be appropriated to specific uses. Part of such revenue goes to the Election Campaign Trust Fund; part to the General Revenue Fund; and part to rebates.

Obviously, the Legislature has exercised its appropriations power in a manner that distinguishes between major and minor parties. Only the former can obtain rebates. Nevertheless, the matter at issue here is the allocation of revenue to specific uses, a power residing solely with the Legislature. State v. Fla. Police Benevolent Assoc., 613 So.2d 415, 418 (Fla. 1992) ("Under the Florida Constitution, exclusive control over public funds rest (sic) solely with the legislature. [e.s.]").

Because it involves only the allocation of revenue, §99.103 must be reviewed under the least strict standard available when election-related laws are challenged. Ultimately, this test will be the "modified strict scrutiny" test announced in <u>Anderson v. Celebrezze</u>, 460 U.S. 780, 103 S.Ct. 1564, 75 L.Ed.2d 547 (1983) and refined in later cases. *See Fulani v. Krivanek*, 973 F.2d 1539, 1543 (11th Cir. 1992) (noting that the <u>Anderson</u> test, rather than strict scrutiny, applies to a ballot-access case).

Over the past two decades, the United States Supreme Court has decided roughly a dozen cases involving equal protection challenges to ballot access and filing fee statutes.<sup>4</sup> In 1983, that Court dismissed traditional strict scrutiny in favor of a more flexible balancing approach. The Court set forth this approach in <u>Anderson</u>:

[A court] must first consider the character and magnitude of the asserted injury to the rights protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments that the plaintiff seeks to vindicate. It then must identify and evaluate the precise interests put forward by the State as justifications for the burden imposed by its rule. In passing judgment, the Court must not only determine the legitimacy and strength of each of those interests, it also must consider the extent to which those interests make it necessary to burden the plaintiff's rights. Only after

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Williams v. Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 89 S.Ct. 5, 21 L.Ed.2d 24 (1968) (invalidating Ohio ballot access requirements); Jenness v. Fortson, 403 U.S. 431, 91 S.Ct. 1970, 29 L.Ed.2d 554 (1971) (upholding Georgia ballot access requirements); Bullock v. Carter, 405 U.S. 134, 92 S.Ct. 849, 31 L.Ed.2d 92 (1972) (invalidating Texas filing fee requirements); Storer v. Brown, 415 U.S. 724, 94 S.Ct. 1274, 39 L.Ed.2d 714 (1974) (upholding certain California ballot access requirements and remanding others); American Party v. White, 415 U.S. 767, 94 S.Ct. 1296, 39 L.Ed.2d 744 (1974) (upholding Texas ballot access requirements); Lubin v. Panish, 415 U.S. 709, 94 S.Ct. 1315, 39 L.Ed.2d 702 (1974) (invalidating California filing fee requirements); Illinois State Board of Elections v. Socialist Workers Party, 440 U.S. 173, 99 S.Ct. 983, 59 L.Ed.2d 230 (1979) (invalidating Illinois signature requirements); Anderson v. Celebrezze, supra (invalidating Ohio signature requirements); Munro v. Socialist Workers Party, 479 U.S. 189, 107 S.Ct. 533, 93 L.Ed.2d 499 (1986) (upholding Washington ballot access requirements); Tashjian v. Republican Party of Conn., 479 U.S. 209, 107 S.Ct. 544, 93 L.Ed.2d 514 (1986) (invalidating Connecticut ballot access requirements); Eu v. San Francisco Cty. Democratic Cent. Comm., 489 U.S. 214, 109 S.Ct. 1013, 103 L.Ed.2d 271 (1989) (invalidating California ban on primary endorsements); Norman v. Reed, 502 U.S. 279, 112 S.Ct. 698, 116 L.Ed.2d 711 (1992) (invalidating certain Illinois signature requirements and upholding others); Burdick v. Takushi, U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 2059, 119 L.Ed.2d 245 (1992) (upholding Hawaii ballot access requirements).

weighing all these factors is the reviewing court in a position to decide whether the challenged provision is unconstitutional.

460 U.S. at 789, 103 S.Ct. at 1570 (citations omitted). See <u>Burdick</u>, 112 S.Ct. at 2063 (the appropriate standard for evaluating a claim that a state law burdens the right to vote is set forth in <u>Anderson</u>); <u>Tashjian</u>, 479 U.S. at 213, 107 S.Ct. at 548 (courts must identify legitimacy of interests advanced by state and consider the extent to which they necessitate burdening voter rights; *citing* <u>Anderson</u>). See <u>Munro</u>, 479 U.S. at 196-99, 107 S.Ct. at 538-40 (upholding Washington statute requiring minor party candidates to receive at least 1% of vote in primary to be placed on ballot in general election).

Later, the Court continued to apply the <u>Anderson</u> test, but reconciled that test with traditional strict scrutiny requirements:

[T]o subject every voting regulation to strict scrutiny and to require that the regulation be narrowly tailored to advance a compelling state interest . . . would tie the hands of States seeking to assure that elections are operated equitably and efficiently.

[A] more flexible standard applies. A court considering a challenge to a state election law must [apply the <u>Anderson</u> test]. Under this standard, the rigorousness of our inquiry into the propriety of a state election law depends upon the extent to which a challenged regulation burdens First and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

<u>Burdick</u>, 112 S.Ct. at 2063 (citations omitted). As a result, the Supreme Court's approach to either a First Amendment or Equal Protection challenge to a ballot access limitation depends upon its view of the seriousness of the alleged constitutional infringement.

Applying the pronouncements of <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Burdick</u>, this court must subject §99.103 to scrutiny that is no more rigorous than the "rational basis" test typically applied to economic regulation. *See* <u>Fulani</u>, 973 F.2d at 1543 ("The approach used by the <u>Anderson</u> Court can be described as a balancing test that ranges from strict scrutiny to a *rational-basis* analysis, depending on the circumstances." [e.s.]).

The challenged statute does not regulate the content or manner of speech, or the ability to seek redress from governmental action. As the Party concedes, it does not regulate ballot access. The statute has no effect on a candidate's choice of parties. The obligation to pay and the amount of filing fees are established by other statutes not at issue.

The statute has no real bearing on the Petitioners' rights of political association. Petitioner Wilson chose to associate with the Libertarian Party despite the fact that he was not eligible for a rebate. Moreover, Wilson could have avoided a filing fee by submitting an affidavit pursuant to 99.096(5), Florida Statutes. That statute allows minor party candidates *only* to avoid the filing fee when the fee would be an undue burden on personal or other available resources.

Significantly and candidly, the Party acknowledged below that the "State of Florida is not required to craft a statutory scheme by which *any* political party is entitled to a portion of its candidates' filing fees." [e.s.] (R 69). Of itself, the rebate or retention of filing fees does not implicate the U.S. or Florida Constitutions.

In short, the Party's complaint concerns only the Legislature's differing exercise of its appropriations power. The Legislature has chosen to use already-collected revenue for rebates to major political parties, but not minor ones. The issue is simply whether §99.103 creates an unreasonable classification. That issue does not invoke strict scrutiny. To the contrary, the statute's First Amendment implications are so minimal that a rational basis test applies.

#### C. Section 99.103 Under The U.S. Constitution

Sporadically throughout Issue I, the Party contends it is "harmed" by not receiving a rebate; that it is financially penalized; etc. (IB, p. 8-9) Also, the Party quotes the Celebrezze decision for the proposition that a statute can be unconstitutional if it threatens diversity of political candidates or ideas. (IB, p. 10) Nevertheless, the Party has not adduced facts that would support such speculative claims. The parties to this case have not so stipulated. Since \$1200 of Wilson's \$1550 in contributions was contributed by the Libertarian Party of Santa Rosa County (R 96), the unavoidable inference is that the Party did not consider the fee a burden justifying a hardship affidavit under §99.096(5). Since Wilson reported only \$100 of his own money as a contribution (R 96), he obviously used money from other sources to pay his fee and was not himself unduly burdened.

In light of these facts and inferences, there is nothing in the record that would allow this court to conclude the statute placed Wilson and the Libertarian Party's at a competitive disadvantage. This court must not accede to such speculation. *See* <u>Buckley v. Valeo</u>, 424

U.S. 1, 70, 96 S.Ct. 612, 659, 46 L.Ed.2d 659 (1976) (agreeing that alleged infringement of First Amendment rights through compelled disclosure of contributors was "highly speculative"); *Id.*, 424 U.S. at 93, n. 126, 96 S.Ct. at 640, n. 126 (claim that public funding of presidential campaigns would lead to government control of political parties' internal affairs "wholly speculative"); and *Id.*, 424 U.S. at 99 & n. 134, 96 S.Ct. at 673 & n. 134 (rejecting claim that one aspect of election funding law disadvantaged non-major parties, in part because "whatever merit the point may have...is questionable on the basis of the record before the Court.").

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